



COMPUTATIONAL ANDSTRUCTURAL BIOTECHNOLOGY

JOURNAL



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/csbj

Review

Targeting N6-methyladenosine RNA modification combined with immune checkpoint Inhibitors: A new approach for cancer therapy



Weiwei Liu ^{a,b,1}, Chaoqun Liu ^{a,b,1}, Hui Wang ^c, Lijun Xu ^{a,b}, Jueyu Zhou ^{a,b}, Sihua Li ^{a,b}, Yu Cheng ^{a,b}, Rui Zhou ^{a,b,*}, Liang Zhao ^{a,b,*}

^a Department of Pathology, Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China

^b Department of Pathology & Guangdong Province Key Laboratory of Molecular Tumour Pathology, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China ^c Department of Medical Oncology, Affiliated Tumour Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University, Guangzhou, China

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 15 June 2022 Received in revised form 7 September 2022 Accepted 8 September 2022 Available online 15 September 2022

Keywords: ICB M6A modification Cancer immunotherapy m6A regulators

ABSTRACT

Immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) have revolutionized cancer immunotherapy by restoring the host antitumor immune response. Since 2011, various ICIs have been approved for the treatment of cancers, which has led to unprecedented prolongation of the survival time for some patients. Although ICIs have been successfully applied in the treatment of different cancers, the low effectiveness rate has dramatically restrained the clinical application of ICI treatment. N6-methyladenosine (m6A) modification is the most common RNA methylation. Recent studies have pointed out that m6A epigenetic modification could improve the efficacy of ICI blockade treatment. Here, we briefly summarize the relevant mechanisms of tumour immunity, the clinical application of ICIs, the resistance to ICI treatment in cancers, and the m6A epigenetic modification and how it regulates the response to ICI treatment. We attempted to provide a potential strategy for cancer therapy by targeting m6A modification combined with ICI blockade treatment.

© 2022 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Backg	ground	5151	
2.	Mechanisms underlying tumour immunity			
3.	Tumour immune checkpoint inhibitors and their clinical application			
4.	ICI resistance			
5.	Epigenetic modification of m6A			
6.	The involvement of m6A methylation in the responses of immune cells			
	6.1.	T cells	5154	
	6.2.	Dendritic cells	5154	
	6.3.	Macrophages	5155	
	6.4.	Natural killer cells	5155	
7.	Association between m6A methylation and tumour immune checkpoint therapy			
	7.1.	Nervous system tumours	5155	
	7.2.	Respiratory system tumours	5155	
	7.3.	Urinary system tumours	5155	
		7.3.1. Renal carcinoma	5155	
		7.3.2. Bladder cancer	5156	
	7.4.	Digestive system tumours	5156	
		7.4.1 Gastric cancer	5156	

* Corresponding authors at: Department of Pathology, Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China. *E-mail addresses:* varuisunny@sina.com (R. Zhou) liangsmu@foxmail.com (I. Zhao)

¹ These authors contributed equally to this work.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2022.09.017

2001-0370/© 2022 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

		7.4.2.	Oesophageal cancer	5156			
		7.4.3.	Colorectal cancer	5156			
		7.4.4.	Liver cancer	5156			
		7.4.5.	Pancreatic cancer	5156			
	7.5.	Genital	system tumours	5157			
		7.5.1.	Breast cancer	5157			
		7.5.2.	Ovarian cancer	5157			
		7.5.3.	Prostate cancer	5157			
	7.6.	Blood s	system cancer	5157			
		7.6.1.	Acute myelocytic leukaemia	5157			
	7.7.	Other o	ancers	5157			
		7.7.1.	Melanoma	5157			
		7.7.2.	Oral squamous cell carcinoma	5157			
		7.7.3.	Squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck	5158			
8.	Thera	apeutic st	trategies targeting m6A regulators	5158			
9.	Concl	lusions		5158			
	nip contribution statement	5158					
Declaration of Competing InterestAcknowledgements							

1. Background

Cancer is one of the most lethal chronic diseases in the world, with nearly 10 million deaths reported worldwide in 2020 [1]. Surgical resection, radiotherapy and chemotherapy are three major traditional cancer treatment methods. However, the accompanying limitations, including severe trauma, low targeting ability, high toxicity and strong drug resistance, markedly restrict their application in cancer therapy [2]. In recent years, cancer immunotherapies, especially immune checkpoint blockade (ICB) therapy, have achieved tremendous progress in the treatment of many malignant tumours [3,4].

ICIs have been a first-line therapy since they were discovered, which can alleviate the immunosuppressive tumour microenvironment [5]. In general, ICIs can elicit a powerful immune response by releasing the inhibitory braking of T cells, with the blockade of PD-1/PD-L1 and CTLA-4 being typical examples [6]. To date, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has authorized three kinds of ICIs, including antibodies against CTL4 (ipilimumab), PD-1 (pembrolizumab, cemiplimab and nivolumab), and PD-L1 (atezolizumab, durvalumab and avelumab). Most of these agents were initially approved for melanoma but have also been applied to other tumour types [7,8]. Although ICI therapy has been demonstrated to be successful in several cancers, the low effectiveness rate has significantly restrained the clinical application of ICI blockade treatment. Taking the therapeutic efficacy of pembrolizumab (anti-PD-1) as an example, the response rate among melanoma patients was only 33 %. Similarly, and in regard to lung cancer patients, only approximately 20-30 % of patients achieved the expected results with ICI blockade therapy [9].

Recent studies have indicated that epigenetic modification can not only promote cancer progression but also influence drug sensitivity [10]. Since epigenetic modifications are reversible by nature, strategies aiming to alleviate abnormal epigenetic modifications are probably effective combination treatments [11,12]. As a vital branch of epigenetic modification, m6A modification is the most commonly studied mRNA and ncRNA modification and can participate in various basic pathophysiological and metabolic processes of RNA, including splicing, nuclear export, translation, decay, folding and RNA-protein interactions [13–17]. Several studies have shown that aberrant expression of m6A regulators, including "writers" (methyltransferases), "readers" (binding proteins), and "erasers" (demethylases), might contribute to carcinogenesis, progression, and drug resistance in various cancers [18]. In addition, m6A modification has been demonstrated to be a potential target for cancer immunotherapy, which can function as a complement to immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy, thereby significantly improving the survival rate and enhancing the quality of life of cancer patients [7,19,20].

In this review, we briefly summarize the relevant mechanisms of tumour immunity, the principle and clinical applications of ICIs, and the role of m6A modification in cancer ICI treatment.

2. Mechanisms underlying tumour immunity

The human immune system is composed of immune defence, immunologic homeostasis and immune surveillance. First, immune defence can eliminate or inhibit viral infection and protect the host from virus-induced tumours. Second, immune homeostasis serves to remove pathogens and helps prevent establishment of the inflammatory environment facilitated by tumorigenesis. Third, immune surveillance can recognize and eliminate tumour cells according to their specific antigens or cell stress-induced molecules, and through these molecules, the immune system can discriminate cancer or precancerous cells from normal cells and eliminate them before they cause damage [21]. Even though the human body possesses a series of approaches for immune surveillance and immune clearance, tumour cells can still develop some strategies to weaken the immune system or evade the immune response, which leads to tumour immune escape [22].

Several potential mechanisms may underlie tumour immune escape.

(1) Low immunogenicity. Some tumours can escape recognition by the immune system because unlike normal cells, they do not have protein peptides that can be presented by MHC molecules. Other tumours might lose one or more MHC molecules or the expression of costimulatory proteins that are required for the activation and maturation of naive T cells.

(2) Lack of costimulatory molecules. The tumour antigens presented without the existence of costimulatory signals will lead to T cells' tolerance of these specific antigens.

(3) Antigen modulation. Initially, the immune system can recognize tumour antigens to attack tumour cells, whereas antibodyinduced antigen internalization or the variation of antigens in tumours will lead to a decrease or even the disappearance of these antigens. The genetic instability of tumour cells is currently believed to contribute to the development of the antigen reduction



Fig. 1. Immune checkpoint signalling mechanisms.

equilibrium phase, which refers to slow or stagnant tumour cell proliferation caused by the immune system. Once the immune system fails in the fight against tumour cells, it will no longer destroy them, the result of which is robust proliferation of tumour cells. Moreover, tumour cells can escape an attack from lymphocytes by not expressing specific antigens and thus develop a selective advantage.

(4) Formation of an immune-privileged site. Tumour cells can secrete a variety of molecules, such as collagen, to form a physical barrier, which can prevent lymphocytes and antigen-presenting cells (APCs) from entering the tumour.

(5) **Tumour-induced immunosuppression.** Tumour cells can produce multiple immunosuppressive molecules, such as TGF- β , IL-10, IDO and PD-L1, to inhibit the immune response directly. They can also recruit regulatory T cells that secrete immunosuppressive cytokines [22,23].

3. Tumour immune checkpoint inhibitors and their clinical application

Next, we briefly outline the functional mechanisms of ICIs (Fig. 1) and their clinical applications based on the immune checkpoints they targeting.

PD-1 (CD279) is a type I transmembrane protein that is mainly expressed in activated T cells. PD-1 expression can also be detected in other cell types, including B cells and natural killer (NK) cells. PD-1 has been reported to eliminate the transmission of antigen recognition signals mediated by *T*-cell receptors [24]. Structurally, PD-1 contains a cytoplasmic tail and an extracellular domain similar to immunoglobulin (Ig). The cytoplasmic tail of PD-1 is composed of two immune receptor tyrosine-based structural motifs, the inhibitory motif (ITIM) and the switching motif (ITSM) [25]. Moreover, the inhibitory function of PD-1 is dependent on the phosphorylated tyrosine in ITSM [26]. PD-L1 and PD-L2 are two PD-1 ligands. PD-L1 is mainly expressed in tumour cells, and its expression is influenced by interferon- γ (IFN- γ) in the microenvironment. Once PD-L1 on tumour cells encounters PD-1 on T cells, their interaction will stop T cells from attacking tumour cells and cause immune escape [27,28]. Therefore, PD-1 on T cells plays a negative regulatory role in the immune system by acting as a brake on the immune system to prevent excessive immune activation. Tumour cells take advantage of this braking by overexpressing PD-L1 to escape attack from immune cells. Similarly, PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors can block this signalling pathway to eliminate tumour cells by restoring the cytotoxicity of immune cells. To date, the FDA has approved three anti-PD-1 antibodies: nivolumab (IgG4 mAb), pembrolizumab (IgG4 mAb) and cemiplimab (IgG4 mAb). Pembrolizumab and cemiplimab have been demonstrated to work well in the clinical treatment of melanoma and non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients [29]. In addition, nivolumab monotherapy is the first FDA-approved first-line immunotherapy for gastric cancer, which is also effective in the treatment of NSCLC, classical Hodgkin's lymphoma (CHL) and melanoma patients [30]. Since 2019, pembrolizumab has been approved and used as the firstline treatment for metastatic melanoma, some metastatic NSCLC and metastatic bladder cancer, refractory CHL and metastatic ESCC and as a second-line treatment for head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) [31-35]. Moreover, cemiplimab has been approved for the treatment of basal cell carcinoma, cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma (CSCC) and NSCLC. The FDA has also authorized three anti-PD-L1 antibodies, including atezolizumab (IgG4 mAb), avelumab (IgG1 mAb) and durvalumab (IgG1 mAb) [36]. Atezolizumab was the first FDA-authorized PD-L1 inhibitor for the treatment of patients with advanced or metastatic urothelial cancer in 2016 [37]. Atezolizumab has also been approved for patients with metastatic NSCLC that developed during chemotherapy or platinum-containing chemotherapy [38]. In 2017, avelumab was approved for the treatment of metastatic urothelial carcinoma and Merkel cell carcinoma (MCC) [39,40]. In addition, the FDA approved the combination of avelumab and the tyrosine kinase inhibitor axitinib for the first-line treatment of patients with advanced RCC in 2019[41]. In 2017, durvalumab was approved for the treatment of locally advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma for the first time [42]. Durvalumab, in combination with etoposide and carboplatin or cisplatin, has been approved as a first-line treatment for patients with advanced NSCLC [43].

CTLA-4 (CD152) is a type I transmembrane glycoprotein that is mainly expressed in T cells. It shares a pair of receptors with CD28-B7-1 (CD80) and B7-2 (CD86) -expressed on the surface of dendritic cells (DCs). In general, CD28 expression can be detected in both quiescent and activated T cells, while CTLA-4 is expressed only in activated T cells. The costimulatory checkpoint protein CD28 on T cells interacts with B7-1 and B7-2 on DCs to amplify the antigen recognition signal and thus successfully activate T cells [44]. To prevent excessive activation and proliferation of T cells, the inhibitory signals produced by the combination of CTLA-4 and B7-1/B7-2 are used to offset the signal activation through higher binding affinity [45–48]. As a vital immune balance modulator, CTLA-4 mainly functions by inhibiting the activation of effector T cells and promoting the proliferation of regulatory T cells (Tregs) in the tumour microenvironment to produce an immunosuppressive effect on tumour progression [49,50]. CTLA-4 inhibitors can target CTLA-4 to relieve Treg inhibition in the tumour microenvironment and induce the activation and proliferation of T cells through which they can attack tumour cells and achieve the goal of disease treatment. Ipilimumab (IgG1 mAb) is a monoclonal antibody against CTLA-4 and was the first ICI approved by the FDA in 2011 for patients with advanced melanoma [51]. The combination of ipilimumab with the PD-1 inhibitor nivolumab has been approved for the treatment of patients with metastatic colorectal cancer (CRC) with high microsatellite instability (H-MSI) or mismatch repair (MMR) [52]. Regardless of PD-L1 expression, the combination of ipilimumab with nivolumab has also been approved for patients with moderate- or low-risk renal cell carcinoma (RCC) [53]. In addition, ipilimumab combined with nabulizumab has also been used as a first-line treatment for NSCLC and malignant pleural mesothelioma (MPM) with tumour PD-L1 expression $\geq 1 \%$ [54,55].

TIGIT (*T***-cell Ig and ITIM domain)** is a member of the poliovirus receptor (PVR)/Nectin family that is predominantly expressed in T cells and NK cells [56,57]. TIGIT can bind to at least two Nectin family members, CD155 and CD112, and its affinity for CD155 is much higher than that for CD112 [58]. The interaction of TIGIT with CD155/CD112 dramatically weakens the cytotoxicity of targeting cells to achieve immunosuppression [59,60]. In addition, TIGIT can inhibit costimulation of DCs and result in reduced antigen presentation and immune activity of DCs. Therefore, the principle of TIGIT inhibitors in immunotherapy is to enhance the effect of T, NK and DC cells. By June 2020, 15 antibodies targeting the TIGIT-PVR pathway were under development, and tiragolumab has since entered the clinical trial phase. The combination of tiragolumab and atezolizumab targeting the TIGIT-PVR pathway is a promising first-line treatment for metastatic NSCLC patients with high PD-L1 expression and no EGFR or ALK mutation [61].

LAG-3 (CD223) is an inhibitory receptor of the type 1 Ig family. LAG-3 expression has been detected in a variety of immune cells, including activated T cells, Tregs and B cells [62,63]. LAG-3 can interact with various molecules and deliver inhibitory signals to regulate immune cell homeostasis, T-cell activation and proliferation, cytokine production, cytolytic activity, and other cellular functions [63]. In addition, persistent antigen stimulation, such as in cancer and chronic viral infection, can reflect LAG-3 expression and lead to T-cell failure and subsequent impairment of Tcell function [64]. Tumour cells are believed to use this strategy to escape immune surveillance during tumorigenesis and cancer progression. Opdualag is a fixed-dose combination of the LAG-3 blocking antibody relatlimab and the PD-1 blocking antibody nivolumab [65]. On 18 March 2022, Opdualag was approved by the FDA as a treatment option for adults and children older than 12 years with unresectable or metastatic melanoma.

TIM-3 (HAVCR2) is a type I membrane protein that is expressed in various immune cells, including Tregs, DCs, B cells, macrophages, NKs and mast cells [57]. It can mediate *T*-cell exhaustion and play a vital role in inhibiting antitumor immunity [66]. Aberrant STAT5 and p38 signalling was detected in Tim-3⁺CD8⁺ T cells, while blocking the Tim-3 pathway dramatically enhanced antitumor immunity and increased IFN- γ secretion in T cells [67]. A similar efficacy of Tim-3 was obtained in preclinical studies compared with that of PD-1 and LAG-3 inhibitors, and a synergistic effect of the three drugs was detected [68,69]. As a high-affinity humanized IgG4 (S228P) antibody targeting TIM-3, sabatolimab (MBG453) targeting TIM-3 on immune and bone marrow cells obtained fast certification from the FDA in 2021. Undoubtedly, ICIs represent a prominent class of drugs for human cancer therapy.

4. ICI resistance

Despite the advantages and robust development of ICIs in immunotherapy, their efficacy is usually short-term, and patients' responses are highly heterogeneous [70]. Even among melanoma patients with the highest response rate to ICIs, 60 % - 70 % had

no objective response to anti-PD-1 treatment [71]. Regarding lung cancer, only approximately 20–30 % of patients achieved the expected results when they received ICI blockade treatment [9]. ICI resistance is becoming a hot topic in tumour immunotherapy and can be divided into two categories: 1) primary resistance, which generally refers to patients who have no response at all from the very beginning and experience rapid tumour progression, and 2) acquired drug resistance, which refers to patients who initially respond to ICIs, but clinical and/or imaging progress ultimately occurs after treatment for a period.

Our understanding of the characteristics and mechanisms of primary and advanced ICI resistance is still limited. For primary drug resistance, the effectiveness rate of ICI treatment varies markedly among different cancers, from more than 80 % of patients with refractory Hodgkin's lymphoma to little or no response in mismatch repair-proficient colorectal cancer patients [72,73]. As the effectiveness rate of many tumours is between 20 % and 40 %. primary resistance or no response to ICIs remains a key issue. A recent study showed that only 12.5 % of the patients were estimated to benefit if they met the eligibility criteria for ICI treatment in 2018 [74]. Therefore, to increase the proportion of patients benefiting from ICI treatment, the factors that may lead to primary drug resistance must be thoroughly understood. The defects in antigenicity and adjuvanticity that shape tumour immunogenicity might be a probable explanation for the insensitivity of tumour cells to ICIs [75]. To address the challenge of primary drug resistance, extensive effort has been expended on combination treatment strategies, usually using empirical orthogonal therapies to expand the response population. In addition, potential biomarkers of the initial ICI response have been extensively studied, such as PD-L1 expression, the tumour mutational burden, tumourinfiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) and related gene expression characteristics.

In contrast to the primary drug resistance of ICIs, acquired drug resistance has not been thoroughly studied. Dysregulation of antigen presentation is suggested to be an effective mediator of acquired drug resistance. For example, interruption of MHCI presentation in lung cancer patients could decrease sensitivity to ICI treatment [84]. Moreover, in a patient with metastatic uterine leiomyosarcoma who responded well to anti-PD-1 treatment, one of the metastatic nodules was still insensitive to immunotherapy. Genomic and proteomic analyses of this nodule showed that the PTEN gene was mutated and that the expression of several neoantigens was decreased [85]. Although no evidence indicates that these features are related to drug resistance, the loss of neoantigen expression might also contribute to escape from cytotoxic *T*-cell attack.

5. Epigenetic modification of m6A

m6A modification is a dynamic and reversible process regulated by three types of enzymes: m6A methyltransferases, m6A demethylases and m6A binding proteins(Fig. 2). Their combined activities ensure the normal expression and translation of RNA [76].

M6A methyltransferases are also known as m6A writers. METTL3, METTL14, WTAP, RBM15, RBM15B, VIRMA and ZC3H13 are common methyltransferases [77,78]. METTL3, a protein with a molecular weight of 70 kDa, is the core catalytic component of the methyltransferase complex. The stable heterodimer formed by METTL3 and METTL14 at a ratio of 1:1 can induce m6A deposition in nuclear RNA transcripts [79]. WTAP is the regulatory component of the complex, which affects m6A deposition by binding to the METTL3/14 complex [80]. RBM15/15B interacts with METTL3 in a WTAP-dependent manner, which can help recruit the methyl-



Fig. 2. The functional mechanism of m6A methylation and its machinery in RNA metabolism.

transferase complex to the U-rich region of mRNA [81]. VIRMA, also known as KIAA1429, is the largest scaffold component of the m6A methyltransferase complex, which plays a regulatory role in m6A methylation in the 3'-UTR and stop codon areas of genes [82,83]. ZC3H13 regulates nuclear m6A methylation by binding to other cofactors, such as WTAP and RBM15 [84]. These writer complexes are dramatically enriched in the RRACH (R = G or A; H = U, A or C) sequences of the stop codon, the 3'-UTR and long introns [85].

M6A demethylases are also known as m6A erasers. Fat and obesity-related protein (FTO) and AlkB homologue 5 (ALKBH5) are two common demethylases that contribute to the dynamic and reversible process of m6A modification [86,87]. FTO was the first protein discovered to catalyse m6A demethylation, which can affect the splicing and stability of mRNA by regulating m6A modification [88]. ALKBH5 is the second demethylase identified to reverse m6A modification, which can regulate mRNA output and metabolism through m6A methylation [87]. The biological effects of demethylases depend on the RNAs that they demethylate.

M6A-binding proteins are also known as readers of m6A modification. The YTH domain families (YTHDF1/2/3 and YTHDC1/2), heteronuclear ribonucleoproteins (HNRNPs; hnRNPC, hnRNPG and hnRNPA2B1) and insulin-like growth factor 2 mRNA binding proteins (IGF2BP1-3). These readers have been demonstrated to be involved in the regulation of RNA splicing, nuclear output, translation efficiency, RNA stability and RNA decay [89]. For example, the interaction of YTHDF1 with eIF3 can facilitate translation. YTHDF2 is the most widely studied m6A reader and can accelerate RNA decay modified by m6A methylation [90]. YTHDF3 affects the translation and decay of m6A-modified mRNAs through its synergistic effects with YTHDF1 or YTHDF2 [91]. Ribonucleoprotein HnRNPC/G is involved in RNA processing and maturation [92], while the RNA binding protein hnRNPA2B1 can bind to m6Amodified nuclear RNAs to participate in subsequent gene splicing [92,93]. Readers from the IGF2BP family can recognize and bind to m6A modification sites, thereby increasing the stability and translation of target RNAs [94].

6. The involvement of m6A methylation in the responses of immune cells

6.1. T cells

T-cell development occurs in the thymus. Mature T cells can migrate to the surrounding organs to regulate the adaptive immune response and play an important role in the process of tumour immunity [95]. Some studies have shown that METTL3 deletion in CD4⁺ T cells can destroy the homeostasis and differentiation of T cells by downregulating activation of the IL-7/STAT5/ SOCS pathway [96]. Interestingly, METTL3 deletion can enhance the stability of SOCS mRNA, thereby inhibiting the IL-2-STAT5 signalling pathway, which is crucial for the function of Tregs [97] T follicular helper (Tfh) cells are a special type of CD4⁺ T cells essential for humoral immunity [98]. In CD4⁺ T cells, METTL3 can stimulate the differentiation, proliferation and survival of Tfh cells by stabilizing Tcf7 transcripts, while conditional deletion of METTL3 can substantially impair these biological processes [98]. In addition, knockout of ALKBH5 could decrease the lactic acid content in the tumour microenvironment by downregulating the expression of the Mct4/Slc16a3 pathway, thus inhibiting the accumulation of Tregs and myeloid suppressor cells. Importantly, the absence of ALKBH5 can also enhance the efficacy of anti-PD-1 therapy [99].

6.2. Dendritic cells

DCs are important APCs. Immature DCs have a strong migration ability. After maturation, they can stimulate and activate T cells and function as a bridge between the innate immune response and adaptive immune response [100]. Studies recently found that METTL3-mediated m6A modification could promote the activation and maturation of DCs. Specific deletion of METTL3 led to the impaired phenotype, functional maturation of DCs, decreased expression of costimulatory molecules, including CD40, CD80 and the cytokine IL-12, and a decreased response to *T*-cell stimulation. The mechanism underlying METTL3-mediated T-cell activation is that METTL3 can stimulate the translation efficiency of CD40, CD80 and Toll/interleukin-1 receptor (TIR) domain adaptor protein (TIRAP) [101]. YTHDF1 can enhance the translation of lysosomal protease-encoded mRNA, which can degrade tumour antigens in lysosomes. Deletion of YTHDF1 in DCs has been reported to inhibit the translation of lysosomal protease, which enhances the cross presentation of tumour antigens and promotes a more cytotoxic lymphocyte (CTL) response against tumours in DCs. In addition, the therapeutic effect of PD-L1 checkpoint blockade was enhanced in YTHDF1(-/-) mice [102]. YTHDF1 is suggested to be a new potential therapeutic target in anticancer immunotherapy.

6.3. Macrophages

Macrophages are phagocytes of the innate immune system, which mainly participate in the recognition, phagocytosis and degradation of pathogens and tumour cells, as well as the genesis and progression of tumours [103]. C1q + macrophages were found to express a variety of ligands that are immunoregulated by METTL14, and METTL14 regulates tumour-infiltrating CD8⁺ T cells through these ligands. In addition, specific knockout of METTL14 in macrophages drives the differentiation of CD8⁺ T cells towards dysfunction, thereby inhibiting the cytotoxicity of CD8⁺ T cells to tumour cells [104]. METTL3 depletion in macrophages reconstituted the tumour microenvironment by enhancing the infiltration of M1- and M2-like TAMs, as well as Tregs. M6A sequencing showed that METTL3 deletion damaged the YTHDF1-mediated translation of SPRED2, thus enhancing the activation of NFkB and STAT3 through the ERK pathway and resulting in increased tumour growth and metastasis. In addition, METTL3 consumption in macrophages also reduces the efficacy of PD-1 blockade therapy [105]. The above findings may provide new ideas for exploring the molecular mechanisms by which macrophages participate in cancer immunotherapy.

6.4. Natural killer cells

NK cells are innate lymphoid immune cells. As a core component of the innate immune system, NK cells play an important role in tumour monitoring [106]. Chen et al. found that METTL3 deletion in NK cells changed the homeostasis of NK cells and inhibited the function and infiltration of NK cells in the tumour microenvironment. The protein expression of m6A-modified SHP-2 is downregulated in METTL3-deficient NK cells. Decreased SHP-2 expression reduced the response of NK cells to IL-15, thus promoting tumour progression and metastasis [106]. Subsequently, Ma et al. found that YTHDF2 deletion in NK cells damages the antitumor and antiviral activities of NK cells in vivo. In terms of mechanism. YTHDF2 can sustain the homeostasis and terminal maturation of NK cells, which is related to the regulation of NK cell transport and Eomes, respectively. In addition, the formation of a STAT5-YTHDF2 positive feedback loop can also promote the effector function of NK cells and IL-15-mediated NK cell survival and proliferation [107]. These findings suggest that METTL3- and YTHDF2-mediated m6A methylation plays a regulatory role in antitumor immunity and NK cell homeostasis.

7. Association between m6A methylation and tumour immune checkpoint therapy

7.1. Nervous system tumours

Gliomas and glioblastomas (GBMs) are two common invasive brain tumours [108]. In recent years, a substantial number of studies have demonstrated that m6A modification plays an important role in their progression and anticancer effects [109]. The m6A scoring system established by Cai et al. showed that GBMs with high m6A scores had a better prognosis, while GBMs with low m6A scores had a worse prognosis. Moreover, the m6A score was significantly correlated with the expression of immune checkpoint genes, indicating that m6A modification may affect the efficacy of immunotherapy [110]. In contrast, some studies have demonstrated that immune checkpoint therapy is more effective for tumours with low m6A scores [111,112]. Zhao et al. confirmed that m6A modification of the regulatory factor HSPA7 can promote SPP1 expression and macrophage infiltration by regulating the expression of Yap1 and LOX in glioblastoma stem cells (GSCs) in vitro. This finding was also confirmed by a glioblastoma organ-like (GBO) model in which HSPA7 knockout enhanced the therapeutic effect of ICB treatment [113]. Yinvang 1 (YY1) is a zinc finger transcription factor that interacts with CDK9 to regulate transcriptional elongation in GSCs. Inhibition of METTL3 or YTHDF2 can stabilize interferon-related genes and activate interferon signals in other cell types. Targeting the YY1-CDK9 complex reduced the expression levels of METTL3 and YTHDF2, thereby inducing the interferon response, reducing regulatory T-cell infiltration, and enhancing the efficacy of immune checkpoint therapy in GBM [108]. Pan et al. also reported that the m6A-modified regulator ELAVL1 is an efficacy predictor for PD-L1 therapy [114].

7.2. Respiratory system tumours

Recent studies have also revealed the vital role of m6A modification in lung cancer [115]. CirclGF2BP3 is a circRNA derived from the back-splicing of IGF2BP3 between exons 4 and 13. The METTL3-mediated m6A modification of circIGF2BP3 and YTHDC1-related circularization helped circlGF2BP3 escape from the cytotoxicity of CD8⁺ T cells by stabilizing OTUB1 mRNA in a PKP3-dependent manner to reduce PD-L1 ubiquitination. Therefore, circIGF2BP3 is a potential therapeutic target to improve the efficacy of PD-1 antibodies [115]. YTHDF1 and YTHDF2 are also involved in PD-L1-mediated anticancer therapy in NSCLC. Overexpression of YTHDF1 and YTHDF2 was positively correlated with the prognosis of NSCLC patients, while silencing them could upregulate tumour PD-L1 expression and lead to a worse prognosis [116]. Patients with high-risk lung squamous cell carcinoma showed a more promising response to PD-1 treatment, and the expression of ALKBH5, METL3, HNRNPC and KIAA1429 was dramatically decreased compared with that in low-risk squamous cell carcinoma [116]. Moreover, multiple bioinformatics analyses also indicated the involvement of m6A regulatory factors in the prognosis and therapy of lung cancer by affecting immune checkpoints [117,118].

7.3. Urinary system tumours

7.3.1. Renal carcinoma

A recent study evaluated the m6A modification pattern and tumour immune landscape of 513 patients with clear cell renal cell carcinoma (CCRCC) to predict their responses to anti-PD-1 treatment. m6A scores were obtained using principal component analysis algorithms to accurately evaluate the m6A methylation

pattern in patients with CCRCC [119]. Another bioinformaticsbased study showed that PD-L1 was overexpressed in the highm6A score group in CCRCC, indicating that patients with high m6A scores may benefit from ICI treatment, which has been verified in 347 patients receiving ICI treatment [120]. LncRNAs have been demonstrated to be extensively modified by m6A, and their interaction might contribute to tumour progression, metastasis, drug resistance and the immune response [18] m6A modification can improve the stability of lncRNAs to promote their oncogenic functions mainly through the ceRNA network [121,122]. Regarding the mechanisms underlying the lncRNA-regulated m6A modification, a study demonstrated that lncRNA GATA3-AS could enhance the m6A reader protein KIAA1429-mediated m6A modification and promote the development of HCC [123] A prognostic risk model composed of seven m6A-related lncRNAs could be used to analyse the expression of immune checkpoint genes and immune cell infiltration in patients with different risks [124].

7.3.2. Bladder cancer

An m6A score model was constructed based on the transcriptome data and the adjusted clinical information of 716 bladder cancer samples from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) database. Immune response markers, such as PD1 and CTLA4, were found to be significantly correlated with the m6A score, indicating that the m6A score has predictive value for evaluating the effect of immunotherapy [125]. Ma et al. conducted a comprehensive RNA-seq analysis using data from the TCGA database and established nine m6A-related prognostic lncRNAs (m6A-RLPS) to verify a close correlation between tumour-infiltrating immune cells and the expression of immune checkpoint genes in bladder cancer (BLCA) [126]. However, these analyses came from bioinformatics tools only, and no further experiments were conducted to verify them. Therefore, whether changes in m6A modification readers can influence the effect of ICI treatment remains to be further studied in urinary system cancer.

7.4. Digestive system tumours

7.4.1. Gastric cancer

An analysis of 21 m6A regulators in 1938 gastric cancer (GC) samples indicated that m6A modification was significantly associated with the tumour immune microenvironment and tumour immunotherapy [127]. The high m6A score subtype showed deficient immune cell infiltration and a low survival rate, while the low m6A score subtype was associated with an increased neoantigen load and an increased response to anti-PD-1/L1 immunotherapy [127]. Mo et al. analysed 293 gastric adenocarcinoma samples from the TCGA database in a retrospective study and built an m6A risk scoring model, which was identified as an independent prognostic indicator for predicting the overall survival of patients with GC. A low risk score is associated with high expression of immune checkpoint genes, including PD-1, PD-L1 and CTLA-4, indicating that this score model can be used to evaluate the efficacy of immunotherapy for GC [128]. Another bioinformatics study evaluated the m6A modification in 407 GC clinical samples and constructed an m6A-related lncRNA pair signature (m6A LPS) to evaluate the status and prognosis of GC [129]. A close correlation was found between m6A-LPS and tumour-infiltrating cells. Higher expression of immune checkpoint genes and a stronger response to immunotherapy were detected in the low-risk group than in the high-risk group, suggesting that these m6A-related IncRNAs could remodel the tumour microenvironment and affect the anticancer ability of ICBs [129]. Although this hypothesis has not been clinically verified, it provides new insight into the prognosis of and therapeutic strategies for GC.

7.4.2. Oesophageal cancer

A recent study evaluated the differential expression of m6A regulatory factors in oesophageal cancer (ESCC) and normal tissues. Based on the expression of these regulatory factors, consensus clustering was adopted to identify PD-L1 expression, immune scores, immune cell infiltration and possible mechanisms in different ESCC clusters. As a result, PD-L1 was overexpressed in ESCC and was negatively correlated with the expression of YTHDF2, METL14 and KIAA1429. Moreover, immune scores, CD8⁺ T cells, resting mast cells and Tregs were significantly increased in Cluster 2, which suggested that m6A methylation regulators might mediate PD-L1 expression and immune cell infiltration and strongly affect the tumour immunological microenvironment of ESCC [130].

7.4.3. Colorectal cancer

According to the m6sig score extracted from the characteristic m6A-related genes, colorectal cancer (CC) patients could be divided into two subgroups with high and low m6sig scores. Patients with lower m6sig scores were found to have longer survival times and enhanced immune infiltration. Further analysis showed that accompanied by significantly mutated genes (SMGs), such as PIK3CA and Smad4, a lower m6sig score was also associated with a higher tumour mutation load, PD-L1 expression and a higher mutation rate [131]. In addition, patients with lower m6sig scores showed better immune responses and sustained clinical benefits in three independent immunotherapy cohorts [131]. m6A-related lncRNAs are also involved in immune infiltration and PD-L1 expression in CC [132]. As a demethylase, FTO can regulate PD-L1 expression in an IFN-γ-independent manner by regulating the methylation of PD-L1 mRNA [133]. Moreover, in mismatch repair-proficient (pMMR)/microsatellite instability-low (MSI-L) (pMMR-MSI-L) CC, deletion of METTK3 and METTL14 increased the infiltration of CD8⁺ T cells and the secretion of IFN- γ , CXCL9 and CXCL10 and enhanced the anti-PD-1 response [134]. Mechanistically, deletion of METTL3 and METTL14 could reduce the m6A modification of STAT1 and IRF1, as well as YTHDF2-mediated mRNA degradation, thereby increasing the expression of STAT1 and IRF1 in the IFN- γ -Stat1-Irf1 axis [134]. The above finding promotes a new understanding of RNA methylation in tumour immunotherapy.

7.4.4. Liver cancer

A recent study adopted five m6A-related genes, YTHDF1, HNRNPC, RBM15, METTL3 and YTHDF2A, in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) to conduct risk stratification based on their expression. The results showed that the expression levels of these genes had good predictive efficiency in predicting OS and DFS and was associated with the response to sorafenib treatment and anti-PD-1 immunotherapy [135]. In addition, m6A-related lncRNAs have also been reported to play an important role in the prognosis and ICI treatment of HCC, taking circRHBDD1, a new circular RNA highly expressed in HCC patients, as an example [136]. Studies have indicated that circRHBDD1 stimulates the recruitment of YTHDF1 to PIK3R1 mRNA and accelerates PIK3R1 translation in a m6A-dependent manner to affect metabolism. More importantly, targeting circRHBDD1 can improve the effect of anti-PD-1 therapy in mouse models [137]. The m6A regulator ZC3H13 was also closely correlated with tumour immune cell infiltration and the expression of immune cell biomarkers and immune checkpoint genes [138].

7.4.5. Pancreatic cancer

An m6A score model constructed based on the RNA-seq data of m6A regulatory factors in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) showed that the m6A score was associated with poor overall survival and increased tumour recurrence in PDAC patients. A mechanistic study showed that PDAC with a high m6A score was characterized by decreased immune infiltration and *T*-cell exhaustion, while PDAC with a low m6A score was more sensitive to ICIs [139]. Hence, the m6A score model provides guiding significance for the prognosis of and therapeutic response to ICI treatment. In addition, Yao et al. established a prognostic risk model using five m6A methylation regulatory factors, ALKBH5, alkbh5, IGF2BP3, IRPPRC and KIAA1429, and based on these factors, PDAC patients were divided into a high-risk group and a low-risk group. The risk score was positively correlated with the tumour mutational burden (TMB). The high-risk group obtained a higher TMB value, while the low-risk group was associated with better efficacy of anti-PD-L1 immunotherapy [140]. However, the above conclusions are derived from bioinformatics analysis only, and prospective clinical studies are still needed.

7.5. Genital system tumours

7.5.1. Breast cancer

Twenty-four major m6A methylation regulatory factors were analysed using the RNA sequencing data of 775 breast cancer patients from TCGA. The consensus clustering algorithm was adopted to divide the patients into two subgroups based on the expression of the sem6A regulatory factors [141]. Compared with that in the hypomethylated subgroup, the infiltration of CD8⁺ T cells, helper T cells and activated NK cells was significantly increased in the hypermethylated subgroup, whereas the expression of PD-L1, PD-L2, TIM3 and C-C motif chemokine receptor 4 (CCR4) was lower in the hypermethylated subgroup than in the hypomethylated subgroup [141]. Consistently, a strong relationship between the expression of m6A regulatory factors and immune checkpoints has been reported in breast cancer [142]. These results suggest that the expression pattern of m6A regulatory factors might be a potential target and biomarker for immunotherapy for breast cancer. A recent study found that METTL3 directly interacted with PD-L1 to regulate the m6A modification of PD-L1, thereby affecting the stability of PD-L1 mRNA. IGF2BP3 could bind to PD-L1 mRNA in a METTL3/m6A-dependent manner, and IGF2BP3 knockdown could diminish the METTL3enhanced stability of PD-L1 [20]. In addition, inhibition of METTL3 or IGF2BP3 could enhance antitumor immunity by influencing PD-L1-mediated *T*-cell activation, exhaustion and infiltration [20]. This finding will further promote our understanding of m6A methyltransferase in the anti-PD-1/PD-L1 treatment of breast cancer.

7.5.2. Ovarian cancer

Based on an expression analysis of 21 m6A RNA methylation regulators in the TCGA database, two different m6A patterns, m6A-cluster.A and m6Acluster.B, were obtained using the consensus clustering algorithm [143]. A total of 196 m6A modification-related genes were differentially expressed in the two clusters, and the underlying mechanism was also further studied. The principal component analysis algorithm was used in view of individual differences to calculate the m6A score of each sample to quantify the m6A pattern. Low m6A scores were associated with immune activation and an enhanced response to immune checkpoint inhibitors, while high m6A scores were related to tumour progression [143].

7.5.3. Prostate cancer

To identify an m6A regulatory pattern suitable for ICI treatment, an m6Ascore model was constructed to quantify the m6A modification based on the expression of m6A-related genes in individual prostate cancer (PC) patients. The response rate to immunotherapy in the low m6A score group with a poor prognosis was found to be higher than that in the high m6A score group. Hence, PC patients in the low m6A score group are more likely to benefit from ICI treatment [144].

7.6. Blood system cancer

7.6.1. Acute myelocytic leukaemia

A recent study investigated the association between factors regulating m6A modification and the antitumor immune response in acute myelocytic leukaemia (AML). High expression of immunomodulators, such as PD-L1, PD-L2, MRP1 and MRP2, was found to be associated with low m6A scores [145]. Deletion of FTO or its pharmacological inhibition could significantly reduce the self-renewal of leukaemic stem cells (LSCs)/initiated cells and reprogramme the immune response by inhibiting the expression of immune checkpoint genes, especially LILRB4. Moreover, silencing FTO could increase the sensitivity of leukaemic cells to the cytotoxicity of T cells and overcome the immune evasion induced by hypomethylating agents [146]. Recently, Cao et al. developed inhibitor-loaded glutathione (GSH)-bioimprinted nanocomposites (GNPIPP12MA) to target the FTO/m6A pathway in coordination with GSH depletion to enhance antileukaemogenesis [147]. GNPIPP12MA can increase the overall m6A modification in LSCs and enhance the response to PD-L1 blockade by increasing cytotoxic CD8⁺ T-cell infiltration [147]. In addition, it can also selectively target leukaemic mother cells and LSCs and induce ferroptosis by destroying intracellular redox homeostasis. Considering the existence of similar GSH-mediated signalling pathways in solid tumours, GNPIPP12MA may also have good potential in the treatment of other cancers.

7.7. Other cancers

7.7.1. Melanoma

Melanoma is one of the deadliest and most difficult cancers to treat, but breakthroughs in immunotherapy have markedly improved outcomes [148]. Recent studies based on bioinformatics analyses have demonstrated a close relationship between the expression of factors regulating m6A modification and immune checkpoints in melanoma [149]. As a demethylase, FTO has been demonstrated to be a stimulus for the development of melanoma. Deletion of FTO increased the m6A methylation of protumorigenic cell-intrinsic genes in primary melanoma, including PD-1, CXCR4 and SOX10, resulting in increased RNA attenuation by the m6A reader YTDHF2. FTO knockout can also increase the sensitivity of melanoma cells to IFN- γ , thus promoting the sensitivity of melanoma to anti-PD-1 therapy in mice [148]. Therefore, the combination of an FTO inhibitor and PD-1 blockade might reduce the resistance of melanoma to immunotherapy and improve the treatment response. In the anti-PD-1 treatment of melanoma, ALKBH5 deletion reduced the infiltration of Tregs and polymorphonuclear MDSCs by affecting m6A modification of the Mct4/Slc16a3 axis, thus enhancing sensitivity to anti-PD-1 treatment [99]. Hence, ALKBH5 might be a potential therapeutic target for cancer treatment alone or in combination with ICBs. Moreover, deletion of methyltransferases, including METTL3 and METTL14, inhibited m6A modification and enhanced the response of melanoma patients to PD-1 treatment. In addition, the lack of METTL3 and METTL14 in tumours leads to increased infiltration of cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells and an altered tumour microenvironment [134].

7.7.2. Oral squamous cell carcinoma

Recent studies have found that METTL3 downregulation enhances the proliferation and metastasis of oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC) by reducing the m6A modification of PRMT5 and PD-L1 [150]. A similar role of METTL3 was also found in breast The common m6A modification regulators and their functional mechanisms.

Targets	Inhibitors	Function	References
FTO	MO-I-500	Inhibit the activity of FTO in m6A demethylation	[154]
	Fluorescein		[155]
	Meclofenamic acid		[156]
	Rhein	Competitively binds to the catalytic domain of FTO and inhibits it from binding to m6A-modified RNAs	[157]
	CHTB	Destroy the function of FTO and inhibit m6A demethylation	[158]
	N-CDPCB		[159]
	R-2HG	Confers anti-leukaemia and anti-glioma effects	[160]
	CS1/CS2	Inhibit the proliferation and self-renewal of cancer stem cells and enhance immune evasion	[146]
	DAC51	Inhibits the proliferation and self-renewal of cancer stem cells and enhances immune evasion	[161]
	Clausine E	Dose-dependently inhibits the demethylase activity of FTO	[163]
	Saikosaponin	Inhibits FTO to rescue m6A hypomethylation in MYC and RARA	[162]
	FB23/FB23-2	Inhibit the proliferation of human acute MLCs and promotes their differentiation/apoptosis	[165]
	MA/MA2	Inhibit the growth and self-renewal of GSCs	[164]
ALKBH5	2-{[1-hydroxy-2-oxo-2-phenylethyl] sulfanyl} acetic acid, 4-{[furan-2- yl] methyl} amino-1,2-diazinane-3,6- dione	Inhibits the proliferation of leukaemia cells including HL-60, CCRF-CEM and K562	[166]
	ALK-04	Inhibits the infiltration of Tregs and MDSCs and enhances the effect of anti-PD-1 therapy	[99]
	Curcumin	Inhibits ALKHB5 expression and induces the m6A modification of TRAF4	[167]
	Ena15/Ena21	Inhibit m6A demethylation in ALKBH5	[168]
METTL3/ME	STM2457	Inhibits the infiltration of Tregs and MDSCs and enhances the effects of anti-PD-1 therapy	[169]
TTL14	UZH1a	Inhibits the catalytic activity of METTL3	[170]
	Quercetin	Inhibit the proliferation of METTL3/METTL14	[171]
	Betaine		[172]
	SPI1		[173]
IGF2BP1	BTYNB	Reduces the stability of c-Myc, E2F1 and eEF2 mRNA and inhibits the proliferation and progression of ovarian cancer and melanoma	[174,175]

cancer [20], indicating the potential value of anticancer immunotherapy targeting METTL3.

7.7.3. Squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck

Bioinformatics-based analysis demonstrated that lncRNAs related to m6A RNA methylation played an important role in the immune microenvironment of HNSCC [151,152]. Yi et al. further revealed the correlation of m6A methylation regulators with PD-L1 and immune infiltration [153]. These findings may provide a theoretical basis for m6A-related immunotherapy in HNSCC patients.

8. Therapeutic strategies targeting m6A regulators

The balance between m6A methylation and demethylation in specific RNA transcripts plays an important role in the progression of many tumours. Therefore, therapeutic strategies targeting these regulators may provide a new approach to cancer immunotherapy. In recent years, a variety of m6A inhibitors have been developed to promote traditional and regenerative medicine. FTO inhibitors, including MO-I-500, fluorescein, meclofenamic acid, rhein, CHTB, N-CDPCB, R-2HG, CS1/CS2, DAC51, clausine E, saikosaponin, 18077/18097, FB23/FB23-2 and MA/MA2, are representative m6A inhibitors and have shown significant antitumor effects both in vivo and in vitro (Table 1) [146,154-165]. Previous studies have mainly focused on FTO inhibitors; however, studies on inhibitors targeting other m6A proteins are still limited, although they might also be beneficial in m6A methylation-related cancers. With continuous breakthroughs in technology, a series of ALKBH5 inhibitors have also been developed, and 2-{[1-hydroxy-2-oxo-2-phenyle thyl]sulfanyl} acetic acid and 4-{[furan-2-yl]methyl}amino-1,2-dia zine-3,6-dione has been found to inhibit the proliferation of leukaemia cell lines [174] Alk-04, a specific ALKBH5 inhibitor, reduces the infiltration of Tregs and MDSCs and inhibits tumour growth by enhancing the efficacy of anti-PD-1 therapy [99]. Moreover, curcumin and Ena15/Ena21 function by inhibiting the expression and demethylation of ALKBH5, respectively [167,168]. Several

m6A methyltransferase inhibitors, such as STM2457, UZH1a, quercetin, betaine and SPI1, have also shown strong anticancer effects [169–173]. BTYNB screened out from a compound library was identified as a selective inhibitor of IGF2BP1 protein [174,175]. Considering the notable roles that m6A modification plays in tumour immunity, more selective and effective drugs targeting m6A-related factors must be developed and explored.

9. Conclusions

The growing successes in ICI therapy provide new hope to cancer patients. However, the low effectiveness rate has dramatically restrained its application. In this review, we explored the potential role of m6A methylation in ICI treatment. The m6A modification can affect tumour immunity by regulating multiple activities in various immune cells. The m6A regulatory factors are closely related to tumour immunity and immunotherapy. The aberrant expression of many m6A regulatory factors can affect anticancer immune function. Notably, m6A modification not only influences the expression pattern of immune checkpoint genes in a variety of cancers but also regulates the sensitivity to and effectiveness of ICI treatment in several preclinical animal models [20,99,99,102,115,134,136,137,148,176]. Therefore, the effective combination of m6A inhibitors and ICIs shows considerable therapeutic prospects. As studies on the relationship between m6A modification and tumour immunity are still at the initial stage, more intensive studies are needed to explore the underlying mechanism. In general, m6A modification is a rising star in the field of epigenetics and has strong therapeutic prospects for a wide range of cancers.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Weiwei Liu: Conceptualization, Validation. Chaoqun Liu: Conceptualization, Validation. Hui Wang: Visualization, Data curation, Writing - review & editing. Lijun Xu: Visualization, Data curation, Writing - review & editing. **Jueyu Zhou:** Visualization, Data curation, Writing - review & editing. **Sihua Li:** Visualization, Data curation, Writing - review & editing. **Yu Cheng:** Visualization, Data curation, Writing - review & editing. **Rui Zhou:** Visualization, Data curation, Writing - review & editing. **Liang Zhao:** Methodology, Resources, Supervision, Project administration. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Nos. 81972813, 81902946 and 82173172), the Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province (2021B1515120001, 2021A1515111190, 2020A1515011389), and the Beijing Xisike Clinical Oncology Research Foundation (Y-Roche2019/2-0025). The figures were drawn by Figdraw. We would like to thank AJE [aje.com] for English language editing.

References

- Tong H, Wei H, Smith AO, et al. The role of m6A epigenetic modification in the treatment of colorectal cancer immune checkpoint inhibitors. Front Immunol 2021;12:802049.
- [2] Pant K, Sedlacek O, Nadar RA, et al. Radiolabelled polymeric materials for imaging and treatment of cancer: quo vadis? Adv Healthc Mater 2017;6.
- [3] Wei SC, Duffy CR, Allison JP. Fundamental mechanisms of immune checkpoint blockade therapy. Cancer Discov 2018;8:1069–86.
- [4] Liu Z, Ravindranathan R, Kalinski P, et al. Rational combination of oncolytic vaccinia virus and PD-L1 blockade works synergistically to enhance therapeutic efficacy. Nat Commun 2017;8:14754.
- [5] Joyce JA, Fearon DT. T cell exclusion, immune privilege, and the tumor microenvironment. Science 2015;348:74–80.
- [6] Byun DJ, Wolchok JD, Rosenberg LM, et al. Cancer immunotherapy immune checkpoint blockade and associated endocrinopathies. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2017;13:195–207.
- [7] Bagchi S, Yuan R, Engleman EG. Immune checkpoint inhibitors for the treatment of cancer: clinical impact and mechanisms of response and resistance. Annu Rev Pathol 2021;16:223–49.
- [8] Lei Q, Wang D, Sun K, et al. Resistance mechanisms of anti-PD1/PDL1 therapy in solid tumors. Front Cell Dev Biol 2020;8:672.
- [9] Jenkins RW, Barbie DA, Flaherty KT. Mechanisms of resistance to immune checkpoint inhibitors. Br J Cancer 2018;118:9–16.
- [10] Adelaiye-Ogala R, Budka J, Damayanti NP, et al. EZH2 modifies sunitinib resistance in renal cell carcinoma by kinome reprogramming. Cancer Res 2017;77:6651–66.
- [11] Tomar T, de Jong S, Alkema NG, et al. Genome-wide methylation profiling of ovarian cancer patient-derived xenografts treated with the demethylating agent decitabine identifies novel epigenetically regulated genes and pathways. Genome Med 2016;8:107.
- [12] Vijayaraghavalu S, Dermawan JK, Cheriyath V, et al. Highly synergistic effect of sequential treatment with epigenetic and anticancer drugs to overcome drug resistance in breast cancer cells is mediated via activation of p21 gene expression leading to G2/M cycle arrest. Mol Pharm 2013;10:337–52.
- [13] Tang Y, Chen K, Song B, et al. m6A-Atlas: a comprehensive knowledgebase for unraveling the N6-methyladenosine (m6A) epitranscriptome. Nucleic Acids Res 2021;49:D134–43.
- [14] Zhao BS, Roundtree IA, He C. Post-transcriptional gene regulation by mRNA modifications. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2017;18:31–42.
- [15] Roundtree IA, Evans ME, Pan T, et al. Dynamic RNA modifications in gene expression regulation. Cell 2017;169:1187–200.
- [16] Alarcon CR, Lee H, Goodarzi H, et al. N6-methyladenosine marks primary microRNAs for processing. Nature 2015;519:482–5.
- [17] Wang X, Lu Z, Gomez A, et al. N6-methyladenosine-dependent regulation of messenger RNA stability. Nature 2014;505:117–20.
- [18] Chen XY, Zhang J, Zhu JS. The role of m(6)A RNA methylation in human cancer. Mol Cancer 2019;18:103.
- [19] Shulman Z, Stern-Ginossar N. The RNA modification N(6)-methyladenosine as a novel regulator of the immune system. Nat Immunol 2020;21:501–12.
- [20] Wan W, Ao X, Chen Q, et al. METTL3/IGF2BP3 axis inhibits tumor immune surveillance by upregulating N(6)-methyladenosine modification of PD-L1 mRNA in breast cancer. Mol Cancer 2022;21:60.

- [21] Swann JB, Smyth MJ. Immune surveillance of tumors. J Clin Invest 2007;117:1137–46.
- [22] Mohme M, Riethdorf S, Pantel K. Circulating and disseminated tumour cells mechanisms of immune surveillance and escape. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2017;14:155–67.
- [23] Kim R, Emi M, Tanabe K. Cancer immunoediting from immune surveillance to immune escape. Immunology 2007;121:1–14.
- [24] Chen L, Han X. Anti-PD-1/PD-L1 therapy of human cancer: past, present, and future. J Clin Invest 2015;125:3384–91.
- [25] Patsoukis N, Duke-Cohan JS, Chaudhri A, et al. Interaction of SHP-2 SH2 domains with PD-1 ITSM induces PD-1 dimerization and SHP-2 activation. Commun Biol 2020;3:128.
- [26] Veluswamy P, Wacker M, Scherner M, et al. Delicate role of PD-L1/PD-1 axis in blood vessel inflammatory diseases: current insight and future significance. Int J Mol Sci 2020;21.
- [27] Okazaki T, Honjo T. The PD-1-PD-L pathway in immunological tolerance. Trends Immunol 2006;27:195–201.
- [28] Shi L, Chen S, Yang L, et al. The role of PD-1 and PD-L1 in T-cell immune suppression in patients with hematological malignancies. J Hematol Oncol 2013;6:74.
- [29] Twomey JD, Zhang B. Cancer immunotherapy update: FDA-approved checkpoint inhibitors and companion diagnostics. Aaps J 2021;23:39.
- [30] Darvin P, Toor SM, Sasidharan NV, et al. Immune checkpoint inhibitors: recent progress and potential biomarkers. Exp Mol Med 2018;50:1–11.
- [31] Pai-Scherf L, Blumenthal GM, Li H, et al. FDA approval summary: pembrolizumab for treatment of metastatic non-small cell lung cancer: first-line therapy and beyond. Oncologist 2017;22:1392–9.
- [32] Aragon-Ching JB. Pembrolizumab use in bladder cancer: a tale of two trials. Nat Rev Urol 2021;18:577–8.
- [33] Zech HB, Laban S, Schafhausen P, et al. Treatment of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma recurrences and distant metastases : Highlights of the 2019 ASCO Meeting. HNO 2019;67:898–904.
- [34] Maly J, Alinari L. Pembrolizumab in classical Hodgkin's lymphoma. Eur J Haematol 2016;97:219-27.
- [35] Yamamoto S, Kato K. Pembrolizumab for the treatment of esophageal cancer. Expert Opin Biol Ther 2020;20:1143–50.
- [36] Philips GK, Atkins M. Therapeutic uses of anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 antibodies. Int Immunol 2015;27:39–46.
- [37] Balar AV, Galsky MD, Rosenberg JE, et al. Atezolizumab as first-line treatment in cisplatin-ineligible patients with locally advanced and metastatic urothelial carcinoma: a single-arm, multicentre, phase 2 trial. Lancet 2017;389:67–76.
- [38] Socinski MA, Jotte RM, Cappuzzo F, et al. Atezolizumab for first-line treatment of metastatic nonsquamous NSCLC. N Engl J Med 2018;378:2288–301.
- [39] Baker M, Cordes L, Brownell I. Avelumab: a new standard for treating metastatic Merkel cell carcinoma. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 2018;18:319–26.
- [40] Powles T, Park SH, Voog E, et al. Avelumab maintenance therapy for advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma. N Engl J Med 2020;383:1218–30.
- [41] Choueiri TK, Larkin J, Oya M, et al. Preliminary results for avelumab plus axitinib as first-line therapy in patients with advanced clear-cell renal-cell carcinoma (JAVELIN Renal 100): an open-label, dose-finding and doseexpansion, phase 1b trial. Lancet Oncol 2018;19:451–60.
- [42] Syed YY. Erratum to: durvalumab: first global approval. Drugs 2017;77:1817.
- [43] Paz-Ares L, Dvorkin M, Chen Y, et al. Durvalumab plus platinum-etoposide versus platinum-etoposide in first-line treatment of extensive-stage smallcell lung cancer (CASPIAN): a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet 2019;394:1929–39.
- [44] Beyersdorf N, Kerkau T, Hunig T. CD28 co-stimulation in T-cell homeostasis: a recent perspective. Immunotargets Ther 2015;4:111–22.
- [45] Walunas TL, Lenschow DJ, Bakker CY, et al. CTLA-4 can function as a negative regulator of T cell activation. Immunity 1994;1:405–13.
- [46] Lee KM, Chuang E, Griffin M, et al. Molecular basis of T cell inactivation by CTLA-4. Science 1998;282:2263–6.
- [47] Acuto O, Michel F. CD28-mediated co-stimulation: a quantitative support for TCR signalling. Nat Rev Immunol 2003;3:939–51.
- [48] Chambers CA, Allison JP. Co-stimulation in T cell responses. Curr Opin Immunol 1997;9:396–404.
- [49] Krummel MF, Allison JP. CD28 and CTLA-4 have opposing effects on the response of T cells to stimulation. J Exp Med 1995;182:459–65.
- [50] Peggs KS, Quezada SA, Chambers CA, et al. Blockade of CTLA-4 on both effector and regulatory T cell compartments contributes to the antitumor activity of anti-CTLA-4 antibodies. J Exp Med 2009;206:1717–25.
- [51] Michel L, Rassaf T, Totzeck M. Cardiotoxicity from immune checkpoint inhibitors. Int J Cardiol Heart Vasc 2019;25:100420.
- [52] Sur D, Havasi A, Cainap C, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy for colorectal cancer. J Clin Med 2020;9.
- [53] Sheng IY, Ornstein MC. Ipilimumab and nivolumab as first-line treatment of patients with renal cell carcinoma: the evidence to date. Cancer Manag Res 2020;12:4871–81.
- [54] Hellmann MD, Rizvi NA, Goldman JW, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab as first-line treatment for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (CheckMate 012): results of an open-label, phase 1, multicohort study. Lancet Oncol 2017;18:31–41.

- [55] Baas P, Scherpereel A, Nowak AK, et al. First-line nivolumab plus ipilimumab in unresectable malignant pleural mesothelioma (CheckMate 743): a multicentre, randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet 2021;397:375–86.
- [56] Stengel KF, Harden-Bowles K, Yu X, et al. Structure of TIGIT immunoreceptor bound to poliovirus receptor reveals a cell-cell adhesion and signaling mechanism that requires cis-trans receptor clustering. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012;109:5399–404.
- [57] Uhlen M, Fagerberg L, Hallstrom BM, et al. Proteomics. Tissue-based map of the human proteome. Science 2015;347:1260419.
- [58] Yu X, Harden K, Gonzalez LC, et al. The surface protein TIGIT suppresses T cell activation by promoting the generation of mature immunoregulatory dendritic cells. Nat Immunol 2009;10:48–57.
- [59] Joller N, Hafler JP, Brynedal B, et al. Cutting edge: TIGIT has T cell-intrinsic inhibitory functions. J Immunol 2011;186:1338–42.
- [60] Josefsson SE, Huse K, Kolstad A, et al. T cells expressing checkpoint receptor TIGIT are enriched in follicular lymphoma tumors and characterized by reversible suppression of T-cell receptor signaling. Clin Cancer Res 2018;24:870–81.
- [61] Rotte A, Sahasranaman S, Budha N. Targeting TIGIT for Immunotherapy of Cancer: Update on Clinical Development. Biomedicines. 2021;9.
- [62] Baixeras E, Huard B, Miossec C, et al. Characterization of the lymphocyte activation gene 3-encoded protein. A new ligand for human leukocyte antigen class II antigens. J Exp Med 1992;176:327–37.
- [63] Goldberg MV, Drake CG. LAG-3 in Cancer Immunotherapy. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 2011;344:269–78.
- [64] Wherry EJ. T cell exhaustion. Nat Immunol 2011;12:492–9.
- [65] Paik J. Nivolumab plus relatlimab: first approval. Drugs 2022;82:925–31.
- [66] Zhu C, Sakuishi K, Xiao S, et al. Corrigendum: an IL-27/NFIL3 signalling axis drives Tim-3 and IL-10 expression and T-cell dysfunction. Nat Commun 2015;6:7657.
- [67] Cai C, Xu YF, Wu ZJ, et al. Tim-3 expression represents dysfunctional tumor infiltrating T cells in renal cell carcinoma. World J Urol 2016;34:561–7.
- [68] Ngiow SF, von Scheidt B, Akiba H, et al. Anti-TIM3 antibody promotes T cell IFN-gamma-mediated antitumor immunity and suppresses established tumors. Cancer Res 2011;71:3540–51.
- [69] Zhou G, Sprengers D, Boor P, et al. Antibodies against immune checkpoint molecules restore functions of tumor-infiltrating t cells in hepatocellular carcinomas. Gastroenterology 2017;153:1107–19.
- [70] Naidoo J, Page DB, Li BT, et al. Toxicities of the anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 immune checkpoint antibodies. Ann Oncol 2015;26:2375–91.
- [71] Ott PA, Bang YJ, Piha-Paul SA, et al. T-cell-inflamed gene-expression profile, programmed death ligand 1 expression, and tumor mutational burden predict efficacy in patients treated with pembrolizumab across 20 cancers: KEYNOTE-028. J Clin Oncol 2019;37:318–27.
- [72] Garyu JW, Uduman M, Stewart A, et al. Characterization of diabetogenic CD8+ T cells: immune therapy with metabolic blockade. J Biol Chem 2016;291:11230–40.
- [73] Le DT, Uram JN, Wang H, et al. PD-1 Blockade in Tumors with Mismatch-Repair Deficiency. N Engl J Med 2015;372:2509–20.
- [74] Haslam A, Prasad V. Estimation of the percentage of US patients with cancer who are eligible for and respond to checkpoint inhibitor immunotherapy drugs. Jama Netw Open 2019;2:e192535.
- [75] Galluzzi L, Buque A, Kepp O, et al. Immunogenic cell death in cancer and infectious disease. Nat Rev Immunol 2017;17:97–111.
- [76] Zhao W, Qi X, Liu L, et al. Epigenetic regulation of m(6)A modifications in human cancer. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 2020;19:405–12.
- [77] Wang X, Feng J, Xue Y, et al. Structural basis of N(6)-adenosine methylation by the METTL3-METTL14 complex. Nature 2016;534:575–8.
- [78] Scholler E, Weichmann F, Treiber T, et al. Interactions, localization, and phosphorylation of the m(6)A generating METTL3-METTL14-WTAP complex. RNA 2018;24:499–512.
- [79] Liu J, Yue Y, Han D, et al. A METTL3-METTL14 complex mediates mammalian nuclear RNA N6-adenosine methylation. Nat Chem Biol 2014;10:93–5.
- [80] Ping XL, Sun BF, Wang L, et al. Mammalian WTAP is a regulatory subunit of the RNA N6-methyladenosine methyltransferase. Cell Res 2014;24:177–89.
- [81] Huang W, Chen TQ, Fang K, et al. N6-methyladenosine methyltransferases: functions, regulation, and clinical potential. J Hematol Oncol 2021;14:117.
- [82] Yue Y, Liu J, Cui X, et al. VIRMA mediates preferential m(6)A mRNA methylation in 3'UTR and near stop codon and associates with alternative polyadenylation. Cell Discov 2018;4:10.
 [83] Qian JY, Gao J, Sun X, et al. KIAA1429 acts as an oncogenic factor in breast
- [83] Qian JY, Gao J, Sun X, et al. KIAA1429 acts as an oncogenic factor in breast cancer by regulating CDK1 in an N6-methyladenosine-independent manner. Oncogene 2019;38:6123–41.
- [84] Knuckles P, Lence T, Haussmann IU, et al. Zc3h13/Flacc is required for adenosine methylation by bridging the mRNA-binding factor Rbm15/Spenito to the m(6)A machinery component Wtap/Fl(2)d. Genes Dev 2018;32:415–29.
- [85] Meyer KD, Saletore Y, Zumbo P, et al. Comprehensive analysis of mRNA methylation reveals enrichment in 3' UTRs and near stop codons. Cell 2012;149:1635–46.
- [86] Jia G, Fu Y, Zhao X, et al. N6-methyladenosine in nuclear RNA is a major substrate of the obesity-associated FTO. Nat Chem Biol 2011;7:885–7.
- [87] Zheng G, Dahl JA, Niu Y, et al. ALKBH5 is a mammalian RNA demethylase that impacts RNA metabolism and mouse fertility. Mol Cell 2013;49:18–29.

- [88] Zhao X, Yang Y, Sun BF, et al. FTO-dependent demethylation of N6methyladenosine regulates mRNA splicing and is required for adipogenesis. Cell Res 2014;24:1403–19.
- [89] Xiao W, Adhikari S, Dahal U, et al. Nuclear m(6)A reader YTHDC1 regulates mRNA splicing. Mol Cell 2016;61:507–19.
- [90] Zhou J, Wan J, Gao X, et al. Dynamic m(6)A mRNA methylation directs translational control of heat shock response. Nature 2015;526:591–4.
- [91] Shi H, Wang X, Lu Z, et al. YTHDF3 facilitates translation and decay of N(6)methyladenosine-modified RNA. Cell Res 2017;27:315–28.
- [92] Yang C, Hu Y, Zhou B, et al. The role of m(6)A modification in physiology and disease. Cell Death Dis 2020;11:960.
 (22) Lipage Z, Kidyull, PL, Dang H, et al. Epigenetic, N6 methyladenesing.
- [93] Liang Z, Kidwell RL, Deng H, et al. Epigenetic N6-methyladenosine modification of RNA and DNA regulates cancer. Cancer Biol Med 2020;17:9–19.
- [94] Huang H, Weng H, Sun W, et al. Recognition of RNA N(6)-methyladenosine by IGF2BP proteins enhances mRNA stability and translation. Nat Cell Biol 2018;20:285–95.
- [95] Walsh SR, Simovic B, Chen L, et al. Endogenous T cells prevent tumor immune escape following adoptive T cell therapy. J Clin Invest 2019;129:5400–10.
- [96] Li HB, Tong J, Zhu S, et al. m(6)A mRNA methylation controls T cell homeostasis by targeting the IL-7/STAT5/SOCS pathways. Nature 2017;548:338-42.
- [97] Tong J, Cao G, Zhang T, et al. m(6)A mRNA methylation sustains Treg suppressive functions. Cell Res 2018;28:253–6.
- [98] Yao Y, Yang Y, Guo W, et al. METTL3-dependent m(6)A modification programs T follicular helper cell differentiation. Nat Commun 2021;12:1333.
- [99] Li N, Kang Y, Wang L, et al. ALKBH5 regulates anti-PD-1 therapy response by modulating lactate and suppressive immune cell accumulation in tumor microenvironment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S a 2020;117:20159–70.
- [100] Wculek SK, Cueto FJ, Mujal AM, et al. Dendritic cells in cancer immunology and immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol 2020;20:7–24.
- [101] Wang H, Hu X, Huang M, et al. Mettl3-mediated mRNA m(6)A methylation promotes dendritic cell activation. Nat Commun 2019;10:1898.
- [102] Han D, Liu J, Chen C, et al. Anti-tumour immunity controlled through mRNA m(6)A methylation and YTHDF1 in dendritic cells. Nature 2019;566:270–4.
- [103] Mantovani A, Marchesi F, Malesci A, et al. Tumour-associated macrophages as treatment targets in oncology. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2017;14:399–416.
 [104] Dong L, Chen C, Zhang Y, et al. The loss of RNA N(6)-adenosine
- [104] Dong L, Chen C, Zhang Y, et al. The loss of RNA N(6)-adenosine methyltransferase Mettl14 in tumor-associated macrophages promotes CD8 (+) T cell dysfunction and tumor growth. Cancer Cell 2021;39:945–57.
- [105] Yin H, Zhang X, Yang P, et al. RNA m6A methylation orchestrates cancer growth and metastasis via macrophage reprogramming; 2021.
- [106] Song H, Song J, Cheng M, et al. METTL3-mediated m(6)A RNA methylation promotes the anti-tumour immunity of natural killer cells; 2021.
- [107] Ma S, Yan J, Barr T, et al. The RNA m6A reader YTHDF2 controls NK cell antitumor and antiviral immunity; 2021.
- [108] Qiu Z, Zhao L, Shen JZ, et al. Transcription elongation machinery is a druggable dependency and potentiates immunotherapy in glioblastoma stem cells. Cancer Discov 2022;12:502–21.
- [109] Qu S, Chen Z, Liu B, et al. N6-methyladenine-related genes affect biological behavior and the prognosis of glioma. Cancer Med 2021;10:98–108.
- [110] Cai Z, Zhang J, Liu Z, et al. Identification of an N6-methyladenosine (m6A)related signature associated with clinical prognosis, immune response, and chemotherapy in primary glioblastomas. Ann Transl Med 2021;9:1241.
- [111] Xiong W, Li C, Wan B, et al. N6-methyladenosine regulator-mediated immue patterns and tumor microenvironment infiltration characterization in glioblastoma. Front Immunol 2022;13:819080.
- [112] Wang L, Cao H, Zhong Y, et al. The role of m6A regulator-mediated methylation modification and tumor microenvironment infiltration in glioblastoma multiforme. Front Cell Dev Biol 2022;10:842835.
- [113] Zhao R, Li B, Zhang S, et al. The N6-methyladenosine-modified pseudogene HSPA7 correlates with the tumor microenvironment and predicts the response to immune checkpoint therapy in glioblastoma. Front Immunol 2021;12.
- [114] Pan Y, Xiao K, Li Y, et al. RNA N6-methyladenosine regulator-mediated methylation modifications pattern and immune infiltration features in glioblastoma. Front Oncol 2021;11:632934.
- [115] Liu Z, Wang T, She Y, et al. N(6)-methyladenosine-modified circIGF2BP3 inhibits CD8(+) T-cell responses to facilitate tumor immune evasion by promoting the deubiquitination of PD-L1 in non-small cell lung cancer. Mol Cancer 2021;20:105.
- [116] Xu F, Chen JX, Yang XB, et al. Analysis of lung adenocarcinoma subtypes based on immune signatures identifies clinical implications for cancer therapy. Mol Ther Oncolytics 2020;17:241–9.
- [117] Zhang Z, Zhang C, Luo Y, et al. m(6)A regulator expression profile predicts the prognosis, benefit of adjuvant chemotherapy, and response to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy in patients with small-cell lung cancer. Bmc Med 2021;19:284.
- [118] Fan Y, Zhou Y, Lou M, et al. m(6)A regulator-mediated methylation modification patterns and characterisation of tumour microenvironment infiltration in non-small cell lung cancer. J Inflamm Res 2022;15: 1969–89.
- [119] Zhong J, Liu Z, Cai C, et al. m(6)A modification patterns and tumor immune landscape in clear cell renal carcinoma. J Immunother Cancer 2021;9.

W. Liu, C. Liu, H. Wang et al.

- [120] Xu W, Tian X, Liu W, et al. m(6)A regulator-mediated methylation modification model predicts prognosis, tumor microenvironment characterizations and response to immunotherapies of clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Front Oncol 2021;11:709579.
- [121] Chen Y, Lin Y, Shu Y, et al. Interaction between N(6)-methyladenosine (m(6) A) modification and noncoding RNAs in cancer. Mol Cancer 2020;19:94.
- [122] Huang H, Weng H, Chen J. m(6)A Modification in Coding and Non-coding RNAs: roles and Therapeutic Implications in Cancer. Cancer Cell 2020;37:270–88.
- [123] Lan T, Li H, Zhang D, et al. KIAA1429 contributes to liver cancer progression through N6-methyladenosine-dependent post-transcriptional modification of GATA3. Mol Cancer 2019;18:186.
- [124] Qiu Y, Wang X, Fan Z, et al. Integrated analysis on the N6-methyladenosinerelated long noncoding RNAs prognostic signature, immune checkpoints, and immune cell infiltration in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Immun Inflamm Dis 2021;9:1596–612.
- [125] Ye F, Hu Y, Gao J, et al. Radiogenomics map reveals the landscape of m6A methylation modification pattern in bladder cancer. Front Immunol 2021;12:722642.
- [126] Ma T, Wang X, Meng L, et al. An effective N6-methyladenosine-related long non-coding RNA prognostic signature for predicting the prognosis of patients with bladder cancer. Bmc Cancer 2021;21:1256.
- [127] Zhang B, Wu Q, Li B, et al. m(6)A regulator-mediated methylation modification patterns and tumor microenvironment infiltration characterization in gastric cancer. Mol Cancer 2020;19:53.
- [128] Mo P, Xie S, Cai W, et al. N(6)-methyladenosine (m(6)A) RNA methylation signature as a predictor of stomach adenocarcinoma outcomes and its association with immune checkpoint molecules. J Int Med Res 2020;48:1220750957.
- [129] Han T, Xu D, Zhu J, et al. Identification of a robust signature for clinical outcomes and immunotherapy response in gastric cancer: based on N6methyladenosine related long noncoding RNAs. Cancer Cell Int 2021;21:432.
- [130] Guo W, Tan F, Huai Q, et al. Comprehensive analysis of PD-L1 expression, immune infiltrates, and m6A RNA methylation regulators in esophageal squamous. Cell Carcinoma 2021.
- [131] Chong W, Shang L, Liu J, et al. m(6)A regulator-based methylation modification patterns characterized by distinct tumor microenvironment immune profiles in colon cancer. Theranostics 2021;11:2201–17.
- [132] Jiang Z, Zhang Y, Chen K, et al. Integrated analysis of the immune infiltrates and PD-L1 expression of N6-methyladenosine-related long non-coding RNAs in colorectal cancer. Int J Gen Med 2021;14:5017–28.
- [133] Tsuruta N, Tsuchihashi K, Ohmura H, et al. RNA N6-methyladenosine demethylase FTO regulates PD-L1 expression in colon cancer cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2020;530:235–9.
- [134] Wang L, Hui H, Agrawal K, et al. m(6) A RNA methyltransferases METTL3/14 regulate immune responses to anti-PD-1 therapy. Embo J 2020;39:e104514.
- [135] Jiang H, Ning G, Wang Y, et al. Identification of an m6A-related signature as biomarker for hepatocellular carcinoma prognosis and correlates with sorafenib and anti-PD-1 immunotherapy treatment response. Dis Markers 2021;2021:5576683.
- [136] Wang Y, Li N, Tian D, et al. Analysis of m6A-related lncRNAs for prognosis value and response to immune checkpoint inhibitors therapy in hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Manag Res 2021;13:6451–71.
- [137] Cai J, Chen Z, Zhang Y, et al. CircRHBDD1 augments metabolic rewiring and restricts immunotherapy efficacy via m(6)A modification in hepatocellular carcinoma. Mol Ther Oncolytics 2022;24:755–71.
- [138] Wu S, Liu S, Cao Y, et al. Downregulation of ZC3H13 by miR-362-3p/miR-425-5p is associated with a poor prognosis and adverse outcomes in hepatocellular carcinoma. Aging (Albany Ny) 2022;14:2304-19.
- [139] Zhou Z, Zhang J, Xu C, et al. An integrated model of N6-methyladenosine regulators to predict tumor aggressiveness and immune evasion in pancreatic cancer. Ebiomedicine 2021;65:103271.
- [140] Yao Y, Luo L, Xiang G, et al. The expression of m(6)A regulators correlated with the immune microenvironment plays an important role in the prognosis of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Gland Surg 2022;11:147–65.
- [141] He X, Tan L, Ni J, et al. Expression pattern of m(6)A regulators is significantly correlated with malignancy and antitumor immune response of breast cancer. Cancer Gene Ther 2021;28:188–96.
- [142] Qin Q, Fang DL, Zhou W, et al. Classification and immune invasion analysis of breast cancer based on m6A genes. Ann Transl Med 2021;9:1418.
- [143] Gu J, Bi F. Significance of N6-methyladenosine RNA methylation regulators in immune infiltrates of ovarian cancer. Front Genet 2021;12:671179.
- [144] Liu Z, Zhong J, Zeng J, et al. Characterization of the m6A-associated tumor immune microenvironment in prostate cancer to aid immunotherapy. Front Immunol 2021;12:735170.
- [145] Du A, Wu X, Gao Y, et al. m6A regulator-mediated methylation modification patterns and tumor microenvironment infiltration characterization in acute myeloid leukemia. Front Immunol 2021;12:789914.
- [146] Su R, Dong L, Li Y, et al. Targeting FTO suppresses cancer stem cell maintenance and immune evasion. Cancer Cell 2020;38:79–96.

- [147] Cao K, Du Y, Bao X, et al. Glutathione-Bioimprinted Nanoparticles Targeting of N6-methyladenosine FTO Demethylase as a Strategy against Leukemic Stem Cells; 2022.
- [148] Yang S, Wei J, Cui YH, et al. m(6)A mRNA demethylase FTO regulates melanoma tumorigenicity and response to anti-PD-1 blockade. Nat Commun 2019;10:2782.
- [149] Ouyang Z, Gao Y, Yang R, et al. Genetic engineering of dendritic cells using partially zwitterionic dendrimer-entrapped gold nanoparticles boosts efficient tumor immunotherapy. Biomacromolecules 2022;23:1326–36.
- [150] Ai Y, Liu S, Luo H, et al. METTL3 intensifies the progress of oral squamous cell carcinoma via modulating the m6A amount of PRMT5 and PD-L1. J Immunol Res 2021;2021:6149558.
- [151] Feng ZY, Gao HY, Feng TD. Immune infiltrates of m(6)A RNA methylationrelated lncRNAs and identification of PD-L1 in patients with primary head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Front Cell Dev Biol 2021;9:672248.
- [152] Zhou C, Wang S, Shen Z, et al. Construction of an m6A-related lncRNA pair prognostic signature and prediction of the immune landscape in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. J Clin Lab Anal 2022;36:e24113.
- [153] Yi L, Wu G, Guo L, et al. Comprehensive analysis of the PD-L1 and immune infiltrates of m(6)A RNA methylation regulators in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 2020;21:299–314.
- [154] Singh B, Kinne HE, Milligan RD, et al. Important role of FTO in the survival of rare panresistant triple-negative inflammatory breast cancer cells facing a severe metabolic challenge. PLoS ONE 2016;11:e159072.
- [155] Wang T, Hong T, Huang Y, et al. Fluorescein derivatives as bifunctional molecules for the simultaneous inhibiting and labeling of FTO protein. J Am Chem Soc 2015;137:13736–9.
- [156] Huang Y, Yan J, Li Q, et al. Meclofenamic acid selectively inhibits FTO demethylation of m6A over ALKBH5. Nucleic Acids Res 2015;43:373–84.
- [157] Chen B, Ye F, Yu L, et al. Development of cell-active N6-methyladenosine RNA demethylase FTO inhibitor. J Am Chem Soc 2012;134:17963–71.
- [158] Qiao Y, Zhou B, Zhang M, et al. A novel inhibitor of the obesity-related protein FTO. Biochemistry 2016;55:1516–22.
- [159] He W, Zhou B, Liu W, et al. Identification of A novel small-molecule binding site of the fat mass and obesity associated protein (FTO). J Med Chem 2015;58:7341–8.
- [160] Su R, Dong L, Li C, et al. R-2HG exhibits anti-tumor activity by targeting FTO/ m(6)A/MYC/CEBPA signaling. Cell 2018;172:90–105.
- [161] Liu Y, Liang G, Xu H, et al. Tumors exploit FTO-mediated regulation of glycolytic metabolism to evade immune surveillance. Cell Metab 2021;33:1221-33.
- [162] Sun K, Du Y, Hou Y, et al. Saikosaponin D exhibits anti-leukemic activity by targeting FTO/m(6)A signaling. Theranostics 2021;11:5831–46.
- [163] Wang Y, Li J, Han X, et al. Identification of Clausine E as an inhibitor of fat mass and obesity-associated protein (FTO) demethylase activity. J Mol Recognit 2019;32:e2800.
- [164] Cui Q, Shi H, Ye P, et al. m(6)A RNA methylation regulates the self-renewal and tumorigenesis of glioblastoma stem cells. Cell Rep 2017;18:2622–34.
- [165] Huang Y, Su R, Sheng Y, et al. Small-molecule targeting of oncogenic FTO demethylase in acute myeloid leukemia. Cancer Cell 2019;35:677–91.
- [166] Selberg S, Seli N, Kankuri E, et al. Rational design of novel anticancer smallmolecule RNA m6A demethylase ALKBH5 inhibitors. ACS Omega 2021;6:13310-20.
- [167] Singh AP, Singh R, Verma SS, et al. Health benefits of resveratrol: evidence from clinical studies. Med Res Rev 2019;39:1851–91.
- [168] Takahashi H, Hase H, Yoshida T, et al. Discovery of two novel ALKBH5 selective inhibitors that exhibit uncompetitive or competitive type and suppress the growth activity of glioblastoma multiforme. Chem Biol Drug Des 2022.
- [169] Yankova E, Blackaby W, Albertella M, et al. Small-molecule inhibition of METTL3 as a strategy against myeloid leukaemia. Nature 2021;593:597–601.
- [170] Li J, Gregory RI. Mining for METTL3 inhibitors to suppress cancer. Nat Struct Mol Biol 2021;28:460–2.
- [171] Xu W, Xie S, Chen X, et al. Effects of quercetin on the efficacy of various chemotherapeutic drugs in cervical. Cancer Cells 2021.
- [172] L. Zhang Y. Qi ALuo Z, et al. Betaine increases mitochondrial content and improves hepatic lipid metabolism Food Funct. 10 2019 216 223.
- [173] Weng H, Huang H, Wu H, et al. METTL14 inhibits hematopoietic stem/ progenitor differentiation and promotes leukemogenesis via mRNA m(6)A modification. Cell Stem Cell 2018;22:191–205.
- [174] Mahapatra L, Andruska N, Mao C, et al. A novel IMP1 inhibitor, BTYNB, targets c-Myc and inhibits melanoma and ovarian cancer cell proliferation. Transl Oncol 2017;10:818–27.
- [175] Muller S, Bley N, Busch B, et al. The oncofetal RNA-binding protein IGF2BP1 is a druggable, post-transcriptional super-enhancer of E2F-driven gene expression in cancer. Nucleic Acids Res 2020;48:8576–90.
- [176] Gordon S, Akopyan G, Garban H, et al. Transcription factor YY1: structure, function, and therapeutic implications in cancer biology. Oncogene 2006;25:1125–42.